
 
 

 
AGENDA  

Caribou Planning Board 
Regular Meeting 

Thursday April 11, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. 
 

The meeting will be broadcast on Cable Channel 1301 and the City’s YouTube Channel. 
Public Comments submitted prior to the meeting no later than 4:00 pm on Thursday, April 11, 2024, will be 

read during the meeting. Send comments to City Manager Penny Thompson at 
pthompson@cariboumaine.org. 

 
 
 
I. Call Meeting to Order, Determine Quorum, disclosure of conflicts of interest  PAGES  

    
II. Approval of minutes 

a. Review & approval of  March 14, 2024, Planning Board Meeting Minutes 02-03 
   

III. Public Hearings 
a.       Site Design Review – Mishaan Van Buren Road Community Solar Garden 04-61 

 
IV. City Council Liaison Updates 

 
V. New Business  

 
a. Discussion of zoning at 39 East Presque Isle Road    62-64 
b. March 29 Housing Symposium in Presque Isle     65 

      
          
 

VI. Old Business 
a. LD 2003 on May agenda 
b. Staff has not talked to the Board of Assessors about ideas brought forward  

    
     
      

VII. Staff Report            
            
             

VIII. Adjournment 
 
 
2024 Planning Board Members: 
 
Amanada Jandreau, Chair    Frank McElwain, Vice Chair 
James E. Belanger, Secretary    Eric Hitchcock 
David Corriveau     Steve Wentworth 
Maura Bishop 

 

City of Caribou, Maine Municipal Building 
  25 High Street 
  Caribou, ME 04736 

Telephone (207) 493-3324 
  Fax (207 498-3954 

ib i  

1

mailto:pthompson@cariboumaine.org


 
 

 
Meeting Minutes  

Caribou Planning Board 
Regular Meeting 

Thursday March 14, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. 
 
 
 

Members Present: Amanda Jandreau, James E. Belanger, Jr., David Corriveau, Steve Wentworth, 
Maura Bishop 
Others in attendance: Penny Thompson, staff 
Absent: Frank McElwain, Eric Hitchcock, and Jody Smith, City Council liaison. 
 
 
I. The meeting was called to order at 6:00 pm. 

It was determined that there was a quorum. 
Conflict of interest: none. 
 

II. Review and Approval of minutes of February 8, 2024 
A motion was made by David Corriveau to approve the minutes of February 8, 2024.  The 
motion was seconded by Steve Wentworth. The vote was unanimous. 
 

III. Public Hearing 
a.         Site Design Review – Mishaan Van Buren Road Community Solar Garden 

Will be having the public hearing at next meeting. Amanda will not be attending, 
Frank will be the acting chair. 

 
IV. City Council Liaison Updates. 

None.  
 

V. New Business 
a. Melissa Hartin daycare application 

- A motion was made by James E. Belanger, Jr. to send a letter of support for the 
application.  The motion was seconded by Steve Wentworth. The vote was 
unanimous. 

 
b. Updated LD 2003 language from NMDC – May meeting 
            Accessory Dwellings – minimum size 
 - Steve – 288 square feet – 12 X 24 
 - James E. Belanger, Jr. – 320 square feet 
 
c.      Other 

- Dave Corriveau spoke about the Housing Symposium 
- Obsolescence Tax – ask the Board of Assessors 

- Dave Corriveau made a motion to have the Board of Assessors look at the 
valuation of unimproved lots in town and add the value of lot improvements 
if water and sewer available.   

- Look at state subdivision law vs. the city subdivision ordinance and how it is 
affected by LD 2003  

 

City of Caribou, Maine Municipal Building 
  25 High Street 

 Caribou, ME 04736 
Telephone (207) 493-3324 

  Fax (207 498-3954 
ib i  

2



 
 

   
  

VI. Old Business 
a. 3/7 workshop: changes to the Land Use table review 
b. Review of Housing Symposium on 2/22  
 

VII. Staff Report 
             
        
VIII. Adjournment 

   Motion by James E. Belanger, Jr. to adjourn, seconded by Steve Wentworth. 
 
Passed by unanimous vote. 
Meeting Adjourned 7:32 pm. 
 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
James Belanger 
Planning Board Secretary                        

 
JEB/JK 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

3



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Planning Board Chair and Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   April 11, 2024 
Re:   Public Hearing for Mishaan Van Buren Road Community Solar Garden  

  

The City of Caribou has received a Site Design Review Application for the Mishaan Van Buren 
Road Community Solar Garden at 1212 Van Buren Road on Map 19 Lot 13 in the R-3 Zone. 

Tonight is the Public Hearing. 

 

Suggested Action 

 
Open the public hearing and ask for any comments. 
 
Close the public hearing. 
 
After the public hearing, review the Site Design Review Application criteria and if approved, you can 
approve the application. At the last meeting there was a question about the amount of impervious 
surface at the entire parcel and not just the project site. 
 
If you still have questions, a conditional approval could be approved. 
 

 

4



Published April 3, 2024

Caribou Planning Board
Notice of Public Hearing

The Caribou Planning Board will hold a Public Hearing
 Thursday, April 11, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. in City Council 

Chambers, 25 High Street, Caribou.
The public hearing is for Site Design Review – Mishaan 
Van Buren Road Community Solar Garden; 1212 Van 

Buren Road, Caribou; contractor - Novel Energy 
Information will be posted on the City’s website at 

www.cariboumaine.org
Interested individuals are encouraged to attend.

5



January 19, 2024        

City of Caribou, ME
25 High Street
Caribou, ME 04376

Attn: Penny Thompson, City Manager & Acting CEO

RE: Permit Application for Planning Board Review 
ME Mishaan Van Buren Road CSG

Dear Ms. Thompson,

Novel Energy Solutions (Applicant) is pleased to submit an application for a review of the Mishaan Van Buren Road 
CSG (Project) to be located in Caribou, Maine. We look forward to working with the Planning Board on this Project.

Please find enclosed the following attachments:

1. Site Design Review Application
2. Plan Requirements
3. Project Narrative
4. Project IFP Site Plan
5. Tax Map 
6. Letter of Good Standing
7. Deed
8. Lease Memo Recorded
9. MDOT Driveway Access Permit Approval
10. Spec Sheets
11. Solar Garden Overview (sent out to abutting properties)
12. MDEP Decommissioning Plan 
13. NES Operations & Maintenance Overview
14. Comprehensive Site Specific Safety Plan (digital copy only)
15. IFP Environmental Package (digital copy only)
16. Stormwater Management Plan (digital copy only)

Upon receipt of this digital submission, we will ship out the ten (10) hard copies of this application and 
supporting documents, as well as 11x17 copies of the Site Plan/IFP’s. Only a digital copy will be supplied of any 
large documents listed above, in order to save paper. Copies can be made after final site plan approval for your 
office file. 

Please contact me at the email below for any comments on our application, fees, or other needs, as well as the 
date we can be added to your next Planning Board agenda.

                                                                         Sincerely, 

                                                                                                                     Suzanne Rose, Permitting Specialist
                                                                                                               Suzanne.rose@novelenergy.biz

6



City of Caribou 
Site Design Review Application

Planning & Code Enforcement
25 High St
Caribou, Maine  04736 
(207) 493
kmurchison@cariboumaine.org 

Note to Applicant: Complete this application and return it with the required documents. In addition, the 
required fee must be returned along with this completed application.
Make checks 

feet of total gross floor area for commercial, industrial or other non 
residential applications. 

Please print or type all information 

Name of Property Owner / Developer: _ ___________________________________________________

Development Name: ____ ____________________________________________________ _____

Location of Property (Street ):  ___________________________________________ ________

City of Caribou        Lot:  __________ 

Site Design  will Planning Board has
determined all ecessary information to review the proposal and render a
decision .  re advised to meet with the 

 prior to  the application
he review  presentation to the Planning Board  and possibly additional

presentations  until all required information has been provided.  
prior to approv .

Applicant Information 

rief description of project

 Tax Map:  __________  Zone:  __________  

7



2

Person and address to which all correspondence regarding this application should be sent:

Phone:

E-mail:

If applicant is a corporation, check if licensed in Maine  (____) Yes  (____) No
(Attach copy of Secretary of State Registration) 

Name of Land Surveyor, Engineer, Architect or other Design Professionals. (attach list if needed)

______________________________________ Phone:  _______________________

______________________________________ Phone:  _______________________

What legal interest does the applicant have in property to be developed (ownership, owners representative, 
option, purchase & sales contract, etc?)

_______________________________________________________________________________ (Attach 
supportive legal documentation) 

General Information

Aroostook County Registry Deeds: Book #   __________ Page #   __________ (attach copy of deed)

What interest does the applicant have in any abutting property?   __________________________________

Is any portion of the property within 250 feet of the normal high water line of a lake, pond, river, or wetland 
or within 75 feet of any stream?  ( ____ ) Yes      (____) No

Is any portion of the property within a Flood Hazard Zone?      (____ )  Yes      (____)   No

Total area or acreage of parcel:  ____________ Total area or acreage to be developed:  ____________   

Has this land been part of subdivision in the past five years?  (____) Yes      (____)   No

Identify existing use(s) of land (farmland, woodlot, residential, etc.) 

restrictive covenants to be placed in the deed (attach list)

Does the applicant propose to dedicate any recreation area, or common lands? (____)  Yes      (____) No     

:

:

:

(____)  Yes ____) No

(____) N

8



3

Recreation area(s)   Estimated Area & Description: ___________________________________________

Common land(s)     Estimated Area & Description: ___________________________________________

Anticipated start date for construction: onth / ear ____/____ Completion: ____/____

Does any portion of the proposal cross or abut an adjoining municipal line? (____)  Yes (____) No

Does this development require extension of public services? (____)  Yes (____) No

Roads: _____ Storm Drainage: _____ Sidewalks: _____ Sewer Lines: ______ Other: _______

Estimated cost for infrastructure improvements: $ __________________

Water Supply: Private Well:  (____) Public Water Supply: (____)

Sew ge Disposal: Private SSWD: (____) Public Sewer:  (____)

Estimated sew ge disposal gallons per day:  (___________/ day)

(____) Yes (____) No
 (Attach Barrier ree and Construction Permits from SFMO) 

Does the building have an automatic sprinkler system? 

Does the building have an automatic fire detection system?

Will the development require a hydrant or dry hydrant fire pond?  (____) Yes (____) No

Concept Plan Review 

he Planning Board  review application
first as a Concept Plan.  Concept Plan Review is intended to nsure the proposed plan is in conformance
with the Caribou Comprehensive Plan and all City rdinances.  

he completed application and oncept lan  be delivered to the Code Enforcement
Office no less than 21 days prior to the 

.  Concept Plan applications  include the following :

1. ____ Name and address of the owner of record and applicant (if different). 

2. ____ Name of the proposed development and location. 

3. ____ Names and addresses of all property owners within 500 feet of the property.

4. ____ A copy of the deed to the property, option to purchase the property, or other  
documentation to demonstrate right, title, or interest in the property on the part of the 
applicant. 

5. ____ Names and addresses of all consultants working on the project. 

: (____)

: (____)

(____) Yes (____) No

(____) Yes (____) No (____) N

(____) Yes  (____) No (____) N

9



4

6. ____ 1 complete set of plans, 

Plans to be included: 
Boundary Survey 
Storm Water Management 
Erosion and Sediment Control 
Finish Grading Plan 
Site Improvement Detail 
Building Elevations and Structural Plans 

7.

____ a. Graphic scale and north arrow.

____ b. Location and dimensions of any existing or proposed easements and copies of
existing covenants or deed restrictions.

____ c. Name, registration number, and seal of the land surveyor, architect, engineer,
and/or  similar professional who prepared the Plan.

____ d. All property boundaries, land area, and zoning designations of the site,
regardless of whether all or part is being developed at this time.

____ e. Size, shape, and location of existing and proposed buildings on the site
including dimensions of the buildings and setbacks from property lines.

____ f. Access for Emergency Vehicles, location and layout design of vehicular
parking, circulation areas, loading areas, and walkways including curb
cuts, driveways, parking space and vehicle turn around areas.

____ g. Location and names of streets and rights-of-way within 200' and adjacent
to the proposed development.

____ h. Proposed finish grades and graphic arrows indicating the direction of
storm water runoff.

____ i. Conceptual treatment of on and off site storm water management facilities.

____ j. Location and sizes of existing and proposed sewer and water services
including connections.

____ k. Conceptual treatment of landscaping buffers, screens, and plantings.

____ l. Location of outdoor storage areas, fences, signage and accessory structures.

____ m. Context map illustrating the area surrounding the site  will be affected by
the proposal  including all streets, sidewalks, intersections, storm water
drainage ways, sanitary sewer lines and pump stations, nearby properties and
buildings, zoning istricts, and geographic features such as, but not limited to,
wetlands, natural features, historic sites, flood plains, significant scenic areas,
and significant wildlife habitats as provided in the Comprehensive Plan.

____ n. All proposed signage and exterior lighting including the location, size and
wording of all signs, type of exterior lights, radius of light, manufacturer's
specifications sheet, and the ground level intensity in foot- candles of all
exterior lights.

10



5

Final Plan Requirements

the Planning Board
schedule  Final Plan Review.  If additional information required by the

Planning Board following  Concept Plan Review , a complete
set of revised plans be provided for .

plans be delivered to the Code Enforcement Office at least 21 days prior to the next
scheduled meeting .

Final Plan Review require three (3) 24" X 36" sets of plans

If the Planning Board determines that third party review necessary to
make a sound decision, the applicant will be responsible for any fees incurred for the third party review.

During the Final  Review the Chairman or
designee all elements of review 7-a. through 7-n. above

have been addressed.
he hair may call for a motion

.

If the Final Plan is approved by the Planning Board, no work may commence
for a period of 30 days following the date of approval

.

To the best of my knowledge, all of the information submitted in this application is true and correct.

Signature of Applicant: ________________________________________   Date:  ____________ 

Final Review Date: ____________ Yes No N/A 

A. Conformance with Comprehensive Plan ____ ____ ____

B. Traffic ____ ____ ____

C. Site Access ____ ____ ____

D. Parking & Vehicle Circulation ____ ____ ____ 

E. Pedestrian Circulation  ____ ____ ____ 

____________

the Planning Board
 Final Plan Review.  If additional information 

Planning
schedule  Final Plan Review.  If additional information required by the

 Concept Plan Review
required by the

, a completePlanning Board following  Concept Plan Review , a completePlanning Board following  Concept Plan Review , a complete
.set of revised plans be provided for set of revised plans

plans be delivered to the Code Enforcement Office at least 21 days prior to the nextplans least 21 days prior to the 
meeting .scheduled

require sets of plansFinal Plan Review three (3) 24" X 36" sets of plansrequire (3) sets of plans

11



6

Yes No N/A 

H. Sanitary Sewage ____ ____ ____

I. Water ____ ____ ____

J. Emergency Vehicle Access ____ ____ ____

K. Waste Disposal ____ ____ ____

L. Buffering ____ ____ ____

M. Natural Areas ____ ____ ____

N. Exterior Lighting ____ ____ ____

O. Stormwater Management ____ ____ ____

P. Erosion & Sediment Control ____ ____ ____

Q. Buildings ____ ____ ____

R. Existing Landscaping ____ ____ ____

S. Infrastructure ____ ____ ____

T. Advertising Features ____ ____ ____

U. Design Relationship to Site ____ ____ ____

V. Scenic Vistas & Areas ____ ____ ____

W. Utilities ____ ____ ____

X. ____ ____ ____

.

Mineral Exploration 

Phosphorus Export 

General Requirements ____ ____ ____

. ____ ____ ____

. ____ ____ ____

F. Site Conditions ____ ____ ____

G. Open Space ____ ____ ____

12



7

City of Caribou, Maine 

Site Design Review for: _________________________________________________________ 

Address: _________________________________________________________ 

by the Caribou Planning Board

On ______________(date) the members of the Caribou Planning Board

Review the property referenced above.

The application was: Denied Approved Approved with onditions

Signed: ___________________________________ Planning Board

___________________________________

___________________________________

___________________________________

___________________________________

___________________________________

___________________________________

Condition s  of Approval:

____ ____ ____

On ______________(date) the Review  the
property referenced above.

The application was: Denied      Approved      Approved with onditions

 by the 

____ ____ ____

Signed:  ___________________________________

13



ME Mishaan Van Buren Road CSG

Plans to be included: 
Boundary Survey (Included in Civil IFP)
Storm Water Management Erosion and Sediment Control Finish Grading Plan (SWMP)
Site Improvement Detail (Included in Civil IFP)
Building Elevations and Structural Plans (Terrasmart Installation manual)

Plans to show the following elements for review:

* Signature Block added onto Cover Sheet Saying: “Approved by City of Caribou Planning 
Board” with lines for (7) Board Member signatures. (Included in Civil IFP)

a.   Graphic scale and north arrow. (Included in Civil IFP)
b. Location and dimensions of any existing or proposed easements and copies of existing 
covenants or deed restrictions. (Included in Civil IFP)
c.   Name, registration number, and seal of the land surveyor, architect, engineer, and/or similar
professional who prepared the Plan. (Included in Civil IFP) 
d.   All property boundaries, land area, and zoning designations of the site, regardless of whether
all or part is being developed at this time. (Included in Civil IFP) 
e.   Size, shape, and location of existing and proposed buildings on the site including dimensions  
of the buildings and setbacks from property lines. (Included in Civil IFP) 
f.    Access for Emergency Vehicles, location and layout design of vehicular parking, circulation  
areas, loading areas, and walkways including curb cuts, driveways, parking space and vehicle 
turn around areas. (Included in Civil IFP) 
g.   Location and names of streets and rights-of-way within 200' and adjacent to the proposed
development. (Included in Civil IFP) 
h.   Proposed finish grades and graphic arrows indicating the direction of storm water runoff. 
(Included in Civil IFP) 
i.   Conceptual treatment of on and off-site storm water management facilities. (SWMP) 
j.   Location and sizes of existing and proposed sewer and water services including connections. 
(SWMP) 
k.   Conceptual treatment of landscaping buffers, screens, and plantings. (SWMP) 
l.   Location of outdoor storage areas, fences, signage, and accessory structures. (Included in 
Civil IFP) 
m.   Context map illustrating the area surrounding the site that will be affected by the proposal,  
including all streets, sidewalks, intersections, storm water drainage ways, sanitary sewer lines
and pump stations, nearby properties and buildings, zoning districts, and geographic features 
such as, but not limited to, wetlands, natural features, historic sites, flood plains, significant  
scenic areas, and significant wildlife habitats as provided in the Comprehensive Plan. . (Included 
in Civil IFP) 
n.    All proposed signage and exterior lighting, including the location, size and wording of all  
signs, type of exterior lights, radius of light, manufacturer's specifications sheet, and the  
ground level intensity in foot- candles of all exterior lights. If no signage or exterior lighting  
is proposed, state "n/a." N/A 

 

14



ME Mishaan Van Buren Road CSG

15



ME CSG LLC  
0 Megawatt Solar Garden 

Introduction
Community Solar Gardens are supported by the State of Maine as a renewable energy supply, governed by
the Public Utilities Commission rules. Novel Energy Solutions (NES) has registered with the Maine Public
Utilities Commission in order to be recognized as a trusted developer of Community Solar. The purpose of
constructing a community solar garden (solar array) is to generate offsite solar energy that will be
connected directly to the electric grid for the on-going benefit of subscribers to the solar garden. Nationally,
as many as 75% of homes and businesses are unable to install solar on their property due to site conditions,
regulations and cost; making off-site solar energy production their only option.

In 2019, the Maine Legislature passed legislation to encourage the development of solar and other small 
renewable energy projects in the State.  As a result, Maine has programs available that provide
opportunities for both residential and non-residential customers to participate in these projects, including 
one that allow customers to share the costs and benefits of small solar or other types of renewable energy,
sometimes referred to as “Community” projects.  Under this program, participating customers receive 
kilowatt-hour (kWh) credits on their electric utility bill that reduce the amount of the payment owed to the
utility, to the standard offer service provider, or, if applicable, to the customer’s competitive electricity
provider. 

This proposed site will be constructed to produce 0 MW of electric generation. The request will be for a 
period of up to 30 years.  The electrical energy will be distributed directly to the existing electrical grid for 
subscribers to access the energy produced by the system.  The impact to the area is low from a
construction, operation, and end of life perspective.  Construction and setup of the system is minimally
invasive and solar arrays are a long-term passive land use. The system does not alter the underlying nature
of the land which can be returned to any other appropriate use upon decommissioning. The system will 
reduce the carbon footprint and greenhouse gas emissions of the State of Maine.  Subscribers to the
community solar garden can save on their electric bills (generally a fixed savings of 10%) over the life of the 
agreement with their utility company (hereinafter “Utility”). Meanwhile, the landowner has a new option
that brings value to their property without impacting the underlying nature of the land. Distributed solar
generation, energy produced at multiple locations across the grid helps prevent electric line loss and
dependence on carbon-based fuel sources.

Solar panels and systems have been used in the United States for over forty years and have gained in
popularity as the cost of solar energy becomes competitive with traditional fossil fuels, in addition to the
positive environmental benefits. Solar systems have been found to be good neighboring land uses due to
their passive nature, lack of negative impact on neighboring property values, and benefits to the 
environment and local economy.

Prepared By:
Novel Energy Solutions LLC
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com 16



Description: The parcel is owned by
PID#: Map Lot
Project Location: Ca , ME 0 ; Coordinates: 4 , -6
Parcel Description: Undeveloped/Vacant 
Site Access: Off of
Ownership: Land will be leased from the landowner, and project ownership will be ME 

CSG, LLC  

Project Team and Contractors:  
The project will be designed, constructed, and operated by NES and their trusted vendors 

Engineering: 
Novel Energy Solutions, Scott Geddes (Head of Engineering), P.E. (CO, IL, IN, ME, MI, MN, OR, WI) 
scott.geddes@novelenergy.biz #612-322-3756 

Surveying: 
Novel Energy Solutions, Tom Healy (Land Surveyor), License # PLS 2632 
tom.healy@novelenergy.biz  

Construction: 
Novel Energy Solutions, Ken Craft (Director of Construction) 
ken.craft@novelenergy.biz

Environmental (desktop reviews) 
Novel Energy Solutions, Robin Brigham (Manager of Environmental Compliance) 
robin.brigham@novelenergy.biz

Protected Natural Resources (field work): 
Haley Ward, Inc. Johanna Szillery, LSS (Senior Project Scientist) 
jszillery@haleyward.com  

Stormwater Protection and Inspections: 
Novel Energy Solutions, Ted Jewison (O&M Project Manager) 
ted.jewison@novelenergy.biz

Prepared By:   
Novel Energy Solutions LLC 
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com 17



Equipment 
The project will consist of  Waaree Ahnay Bffacial 445-Watt solar panels. Bloomberg New Energy 
Finance rates solar panels in tiers based on a variety of factors including financeability.  All Tier-1 panels 
used have a 25-year warranty. Panels will feed inverters which ultimately connect to the electric grid at a 
point of interconnection located at a point closest to the 3-phase power lines as engineered to meet 
Industry, State and Federal standards. 

Transformers and related equipment will be placed on a pre-cast concrete slab on grade adjacent to the 
0 MW array grouping. The Utility required poles will be standard electric utility poles with underground 

wires unless otherwise authorized or required, and the Utility will acquire the necessary permits for their 
poles. Additional poles may be required depending on the manner of interconnection.  All non-Utility 
equipment, materials, supplies, concrete, etc. will be removed at the end of the useful life of the project.  
All equipment must meet Utility and national standards for safety and interconnection.   

Site Appearance & Impact 
The parcel will consist of a 0 MW Solar Garden with solar panels. This system will utilize a single 
axis tracker system which significantly increases the efficiency of the system by allowing the panels to 
absorbs more solar energy. The array and equipment pad will be surrounded by a 7’ high agriculture style, 
wire mesh fence. The panels will not exceed 12 – 13 feet in height at full tilt. The poles will be pounded 
straight into the ground and the depth they will have to be pounded will be determined by pull testing 
which will be completed prior to plan sets being completed to ensure that they are structurally sound.  The 
installation will include 2 strings with 26 modules on each string with 40 foot row to row spacing on a 
single axis tracker.  The proposed layout is subject to engineering and final Utility approval. The final layout 
will continue to meet all requirements and performance standards.   

Gated access will be provided with a key code or double lock for Utility and emergency response personnel. 
Signage will include 24-hour contact information. One light at the point of interconnection will be 
illuminated continually in the evening hours for safety of responding personnel. 

Natural and existing screening can provide visual impact mitigation for the surrounding properties and 
roadways. Following construction of the arrays and any other project requirements, vegetation will be 
established to ensure soil stabilization, improve storm water quality, and for site beautification. Low 
Maintenance Turf seed mix or similar seed mix is utilized. Native grasses or specific pollinator friendly 
plantings will be utilized. Once established, this site will filtrate surface waters and minimize erosion better 
than traditional croplands. Additional site visits and pro-active weed identification and control will occur in 
the earlier seasons of the vegetative growth to ensure proper site development. The
Planning Board can decide whether they will allow herbicides or pesticides to be used, if the Board decides 
against it, then herbicides and pesticides will not be used on site. Regular site maintenance will occur 
throughout the life of the system. 

Prepared By:   
Novel Energy Solutions LLC 
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com 18



Prepared By:   
Novel Energy Solutions LLC 
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://
www.novelenergysolutions.com

grade and fill activities. Grading and minor excavation may be needed for the switchgear pad to ensure 
level ground for the slab on grade. All necessary equipment and supplies will be delivered within a 6-8 week 
period at the start of construction. During the start of construction there will only be an average of two 
semi-trailers per day. Construction is expected to take 6-8 weeks. Deliveries will come from Gardiner Road 
as depicted on the site plan. A temporary delivery direction sign may be installed at the start of 
construction upon approval from the road authority. Temporary parking and staging will be off-road at the 
site entrance as shown on the site plan. Disposal of waste materials will comply with all Local, State and 
Federal regulations and best practices. 

State and National electrical codes must be met, inspected and approved prior to interconnection. A signed 
interconnection agreement with the Utility can be provided prior to construction activities. 

MDIFW:
MNAP:
IPaC:

19



Prepared By:  
Novel Energy Solutions LLC
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com

Species Federal Status Critical Habitat ESA
Determination

Affect 

Affect 

Monarch Butterfly Candidate No May Affect

Conclusion 
We are excited to complete this project in a strong partnership with and 
the of Car We are committed to following best practices and all State, Federal and Local rules 
and regulations to develop a community solar garden providing many benefits to the local community.

20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



Prepared By:  
Matt Reid
Novel Energy Solutions LLC
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com

NOVEL ENERGY SOLUTIONS LLC 

FOR

ME MISHAAN VAN BUREN ROAD CSG LLC

JANUARY 2024

DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

SOLAR DECOMMISSIONING PLAN

46



ME Mishaan Van Buren Road CSG LLC 01/10/2024 | Page 2 of 6
Solar Decommissioning Plan 

Novel Energy Solutions LLC 
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com 

Table of Contents 

1. Purpose ................................................................................................ 3 

2. Permitting ............................................................................................. 3 

3. Timeline................................................................................................ 4 

4. Shutdown and Disconnection ...................................................................... 4 

5. Decommissioning Phases ............................................................................ 4 

5.1 Dismantlement, Demolition, Disposal, or Recycle .......................................... 4 
5.2 Site Stabilization ................................................................................. 5 

6. Decommissioning Cost ............................................................................... 5 

7. Financial Assurance .................................................................................. 6 

8. Attachments ........................................................................................... 6 

 

  

47



ME Mishaan Van Buren Road CSG LLC 01/10/2024 | Page 3 of 6
Solar Decommissioning Plan 

Novel Energy Solutions LLC 
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com 

1. Purpose

Maine Law requires developers of solar energy developments that occupy 3 or more acres to 

have an approved Solar Decommissioning Plan (the “Plan”) and accompanying financial 

assurance sufficient to cover the cost of decommissioning as outlined in the Plan.  

On behalf of ME Mishaan Van Buren Road CSG LLC, Novel Energy Solutions (NES) is pleased to 

submit the following Solar Decommissioning Plan for the proposed ME Mishaan Van Buren Road 

CSG solar energy facility (the “Facility”) to be constructed in Caribou, Maine on Van Buren 

Road. The lifecycle of the Facility is expected to be approximately 25 years. This Plan describes 

the process for decommissioning the Facility.  

Decommissioning means the physical removal of all Facility components to a depth of at least 

24 inches or to the depth of bedrock, whichever is less, to the extent such components are not 

otherwise in or proposed to be placed in productive use or otherwise authorized to remain in 

place by the Maine Department of Environmental Protection (MDEP). Decommissioning also 

includes grading to postconstruction grade and revegetation of all earth disturbed during 

construction and decommissioning, except for areas already restored.  

2. Permitting 

Prior to the start of construction, NES will submit the necessary permit applications to MDEP 

for Stormwater Management. In addition, any environmental permits required for site specific 

impacts (i.e., wetlands disturbances or steam crossings) will be submitted to the regulating 

agencies (MDEP/USACE). An Erosion and Sediment Control (ESC) Plan will also be developed for 

the proposed Project. This ESC plan shall be based on the Best Management Practices (BMP) 

outlined in the Maine Erosion and Sediment Control BMP guidelines document developed by the 

MDEP.  

As noted in Section 7, financial assurance will be submitted at a later date. No construction 

activities shall occur until all necessary permits and documents are reviewed and approved by 

the regulating agencies.   

48



ME Mishaan Van Buren Road CSG LLC 01/10/2024 | Page 4 of 6
Solar Decommissioning Plan 

Novel Energy Solutions LLC 
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com 

3. Timeline

Decommissioning will occur at the end of the Facilities contract life, approximately 25 years. 

The Facilities decommissioning is estimated to take 60 days to complete. The decommissioning 

crew will ensure that all equipment is either recycled or disposed of properly.  

4. Shutdown and Disconnection 

Shut down of the Facility at all disconnect points (disconnect switch at step up transformer 

within the solar field and disconnect at utility interconnect yard switch gear).  

5. Decommissioning Phases 

The Facility will be decommissioned by completing the following major phases: Dismantlement, 

Demolition, Disposal, or Recycle, and Site Stabilization.  

5.1 Dismantlement, Demolition, Disposal, or Recycle

A significant portion of the components that comprise the Facility will include recyclable or re-

useable components. Due to the re-sale monetary value, these components will be dismantled, 

disassembled, and recycled rather than being demolished and disposed of.   

 Modules: Modules will be inspected for physical damage, tested for functionality, and 

removed from the racking system. Functioning modules will be packed and stored for 

reuse (functioning modules can produce power for another 25+/- years.) Non-

functioning modules will be packed, palletized, and recycled. 

 Racking system: Racking will be separated from footing poles, sorted, and recycled.  

 Posts: Steel posts will be removed, stacked, and recycled. 

 Wire: Above-ground wire will be sent to a facility for proper disposal and/or recycling. 

Below-ground wire will be abandoned in place.  

 Conduit: Above-ground conduit will be disassembled onsite and recycled.  

 Junction boxes, combiner boxes, disconnect, and switch gear etc. will be recycled.  

 Inverter and Transformer: Inverters and components will be sent to manufacturer 

and/or electronics recycler. Functioning components can be reused.  

 Concrete pad(s): Concrete will be recycled.  

 Fencing: Fencing will be disassembled, poles removed and sent to metal recycling 

facility. Gate motor and electrical components will be recycled.   

49



ME Mishaan Van Buren Road CSG LLC 01/10/2024 | Page 5 of 6
Solar Decommissioning Plan 

Novel Energy Solutions LLC 
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com 

 Access road Removal: Beginning at the property boundary, all gravel surfaces developed 

for the Project, including roadbed, hammerhead, and equipment pad area. Exposed 

surfaces will be replaced with topsoil or other material suitable for sustaining vegetative 

cover. The areas will be re-seeded with a mixture similar and compatible with the 

vegetation existing at the time of decommissioning.  

 Environmental sensors: Sensors and mounting hardware will be recycled. 

 Computers, monitors, hard drives, and other components: Equipment will be recycled 

or reused.  

A final site walk through will be conducted to remove debris and/or waste generated during 

the decommissioning process and will include removal and proper disposal of any debris that 

may have been wind-blown to areas outside the immediate footprint of the Facility. Sanitary 

facilities will be provided on-site for works performing the decommissioning of the Facility.  

5.2 Site Stabilization 

The areas of the Facility that are disturbed during decommissioning will be stabilized in 

accordance with best engineering practices and/or landowner preference (e.g., grading, 

mulching and/or seeding). The decommissioning process is estimated to take approximately 

eight to twelve weeks and would be intended to occur outside the winter construction season.  

 Revegetation: At the time of decommissioning, the soil will have regenerated for 25 

years. All disturbed soil will be revegetated with a pollinator mix or the field will be 

disced and replaced with topsoil.  

 Farmland: For any portion of the solar energy development located on land classified as 

farmland decommissioning means the physical removal off all components of the 

development to a depth of at least 48 inches or to the depth of bedrock, whichever is 

less, and for the restoration of the farmland sufficient to support resumption of farming 

or agricultural activities.  

6. Decommissioning Cost  

The cost of decommissioning is lower than the salvage value of the materials. However, NES 

will provide a Performance Bond in the amount of $127,070.23 per 35-A M.R.S § 3494 in Solar 

Decommissioning Law.  

The estimated costs for decommissioning the Facility are provided in the table below.  

50



ME Mishaan Van Buren Road CSG LLC 01/10/2024 | Page 6 of 6 
Solar Decommissioning Plan 

Novel Energy Solutions LLC 
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com 

Project Size: 2,000 KW 

Task  Cost 

Remove Rack Wiring  $                        3,309.60  

Remove Cable $                        4,902.40 

Remove Panels  $                      15,000.00  

Dismantle Racks $                        5,516.00 

Remove and Load Racks Plus Trucking $                      20,628.00  

Remove Electrical Equipment Plus Trucking  $                        3,428.80  

Breakup and Remove Concrete pads and Ballasts  $                        1,088.00  

Remove Power Poles  $                        1,200.00  

Remove Fence plus Trucking  $                        7,777.20  

Grading $                        1,200.00 

Seed Disturbed Areas/Disc Topsoil  $                            324.00  

Additional Costs Plus Fuel  $                        5,880.00  

Total Cost  $                      70,254.00  

Total cost after 25yrs at 2.5% inflation rate per/yr. $                    127,070.23  

7. Financial Assurance 

Prior to the start of construction, the Applicant will submit financial assurance to MDEP for 

review and approval in the form of a performance bond, surety bond, of letter of credit. 

Because the Applicant will obtain MDEP approval of the financial assurance proposal prior to 

the start of construction, the Applicant has demonstrated its current and future financial 

capacity, which is unaffected by the owner’s or operator’s future financial condition, to fully 

fund the decommissioning in accordance with the decommissioning plan.  

8. Attachments 

The following documents are attached:  

 USGS Topo Map, Overall Site Plan, directions to site 

 Letter of Corporate Standing 

51



ME MISHAAN VAN BUREN ROAD CSG - TOPO MAP

Date: 6/9/2023
Time: 1:39:35 PM

0.2
Miles

1 inch = 0.23 miles

The Maine Depar tment of Transportation provides this pub lication  for information only. 
Reliance upon th is information is at user risk. It i s subject to revision and  may be incomplete 
depending upon changing cond itions. The Depar tment assumes no liability if injuries or 
damages result from this information. This map is not intended to support emergency d ispatch. 52



53



54



55



Prepared By:
Novel Energy Solutions LLC
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com

NOVEL ENERGY SOLUTIONS LLC 

ENGINEERING, PROCUREMENT, AND CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTOR

OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE OVERVIEW

STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURE 

ISSUED FOR PERMITTING

56



Operations and Maintenance Overview
Standard Operating Procedure 08/15/2023 | Page 2 of 5

Novel Energy Solutions LLC
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com

Table of Contents

1. Purpose and Need ..................................................................................... 3

2. Standard Maintenance Overview ................................................................... 3

2.1 Mowing.............................................................................................. 3
2.2 Herbicide Use ...................................................................................... 3
2.3 Vegetation Maintenance ......................................................................... 4
2.4 Snow Removal ..................................................................................... 4

2.4.1 Panels...................................................................................... 4
2.4.2 Access ..................................................................................... 4

2.5 Broken Panel Replacement ...................................................................... 4
2.6 Broken Equipment Replacement................................................................ 4
2.7 Electrical and Utility Visits ...................................................................... 4
2.8 Access Road Maintenance........................................................................ 4
2.9 Wildlife Management ............................................................................. 5

List of Acronyms

EPC Engineering, Procurement, and Construction
IFP Issued for Permitting 
NES Novel Energy Solutions LLC
O&M Operations and Maintenance
SOP Standard Operating Procedure 

57



Operations and Maintenance Overview
Standard Operating Procedure 08/15/2023 | Page 3 of 5

Novel Energy Solutions LLC
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com

1. Purpose and Need

As the Engineering, Procurement, and Construction (EPC) contractor for solar facilities

throughout the nation, as well as a solar project owner, Novel Energy Solutions LLC (NES) is 

committed to safe projects. Once constructed and operational, periodic maintenance around 

the site is utilized to ensure optimal working order.

Generally, the facilities will be operated and maintained in a manner consistent with good 

utility practices, including a minimum of biannual (spring and fall) onsite inspections and 

maintenance of stormwater management system components, as needed.

With that in mind, NES goals are aligned with those of the respective towns and counties that 

host these projects. This O&M Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) is Issued for Permitting (IFP) 

purposes, and project specific plans will be addressed at a later date. 

2. Standard Maintenance Overview

Projects are fenced to ensure the safety of personnel and equipment, in coordination with 

National Electric Code (NEC) standards . Projects are secured by a wildlife-permeable fence,

with standard gates for emergency and maintenance vehicles to access. These projects also 

utilize remote electronic monitoring to gain real-time information regarding electrical output 

and associated required maintenance.

The following section provides an overview of selected parts of the NES Operations and 

Maintenance (O&M) Plan:

2.1 Mowing

It is anticipated that mowing will be performed twice annually, with schedules adjusted as 

needed, to maintain vegetation to 20 inches in height or less between each cutting. 

2.2 Herbicide Use

Herbicide is used only where permitted, and generally only used to control growth of invasive 

weed while sites reach revegetation status.

58



Operations and Maintenance Overview
Standard Operating Procedure 08/15/2023 | Page 4 of 5

Novel Energy Solutions LLC
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com

2.3 Vegetation Maintenance

The Owner (or designated party) shall be responsible for maintaining vegetation within the 

limits of the fenced-in solar array and associated project screening. Vegetation is replaced in 

a timely manner when needed due to disease/death, unsuccessful transplanting, or similar 

occasion.

2.4 Snow Removal

2.4.1 Panels

Snow typically falls off the panels as they shift from east to west on the racking installations.

2.4.2 Access

The Project Operator removes the snow from the access road to the inverter on sites when 

the snow is more than 4 inches deep. The Project Operator is required to keep the snow clear

anywhere the Utility needs to have access. The snow will be plowed, shoveled, or blown and 

piled to the side of the road on most sites. Tree screening can make it more difficult to move 

the snow and may create snow walls at times, which will be maintained in a timely manner to 

avoid safety or other issues. 

2.5 Broken Panel Replacement

NES is notified via remote electronic monitoring when system output decreases in a certain 

area, indicative of a malfunction, and replaces the panels in a timely manner.

2.6 Broken Equipment Replacement

To ensure profitability, NES is incentivized to ensure optimal working order. Broken equipment 

is replaced on an as-needed basis. 

2.7 Electrical and Utility Visits

Electrical and Utility visits are scheduled as needed and in coordination with the utility. 

2.8 Access Road Maintenance

The access roadway will typically require little on-going maintenance, owing to its primary and 

limited use by light-duty vehicles. Repair and maintenance shall be completed as necessary to 

ensure runoff from the roadways is conveyed as sheet flow to the downgradient stabilized areas.

59



Operations and Maintenance Overview
Standard Operating Procedure 08/15/2023 | Page 5 of 5

Novel Energy Solutions LLC
2303 Wycliff Street | Suite 300 | St. Paul, MN 55114 | Phone 612.345.7188 | https://www.novelenergysolutions.com

2.9 Wildlife Management 

NES follows recommendations for the use of wildlife-permeable fencing to address the need 

for site safety and security, while allowing for access and use of the project area by small 

animals.

Upon construction completion the owner will establish procedures for regular monitoring and 

the timely release of any trapped wildlife. 

60



61



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Planning Board Chair and Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   April 11, 2024 
Re:   Discussion of zoning at 39 East Presque Isle Road  

  

A Jonathan Scheibler who lives at 39 East Presque Isle Road wants a permit to build a 14 X 20 Storage 
Shed on skids on his property.  I had a discussion with Steve W. and he said that the R-2/R-3 Zoning in that 
area should be an agenda item for the planning board.  It even could be a mistake on the zoning map (or 
not) but anyways I have attached a blown up view of that section of the zoning map for you to see.  The 
red out lined area should be Scheibler’s property.  He’s got setback issues if he has to stick with R-3 zoning 
but that whole neighborhood probably should be R-2 per Steve (I agree as well).  

(from Tony Michaud) 

 

 

Suggested Action 

 
 
 

 

62



63



64



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Planning Board Chair and Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   April 11, 2024 
Re:   Discussion of March 29 Housing Symposium in Presque Isle  

  

If any member of the Planning Board attended the March 29 Housing Symposium in Presque Isle, 
please share your thoughts. 

Also, a draft of the Aroostook County Affordable Housing Toolkit from NMDC is now available. 

 

Suggested Action 

 
 
 

 

65


